
Committee meeting materials may be accessed online at https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/CommitteeDocuments/33
1

INTERIM JOINT COMMITTEE ON STATE GOVERNMENT

Minutes of the 5th Meeting of the 2025 Interim

October 21, 2025

Call to Order and Roll Call
The fifth meeting of the Interim Joint Committee on State Government was held on 
October 21, 2025, at 11:00 AM in Room 154 of the Capitol Annex. Representative David 
Hale, Chair, called the meeting to order, and the secretary called the roll.

Present were:
Members:  Senator Michael J. Nemes, Co-Chair; Representatives DJ Johnson, Co-Chair; 
David Hale, Co-Chair; Senators Cassie Chambers Armstrong, Greg Elkins, Keturah J. 
Herron, Amanda Mays Bledsoe, Christian McDaniel, Robby Mills, Steve Rawlings, and 
Lindsey Tichenor; and Representatives Shane Baker, Ryan Bivens, Josh Branscum, Beverly 
Chester-Burton, Jim Gooch Jr., Thomas Huff, Mary Beth Imes, Matthew Koch, Matthew 
Lehman, Chris Lewis, Matt Lockett, Mary Lou Marzian, Marianne Proctor, Rebecca 
Raymer, T.J. Roberts, Aaron Thompson, James Tipton, and Susan Witten.

Guests:  Representative Mark Hart; Senator Greg Elkins; Cindy Batson, Registered Nurse, 
Kentucky for Fluoride Choice; Dr. Jack Kall, Executive Chair, International Academy of 
Oral Medicine and  Toxicology; Vince Guenthner, Senior Utilities Consultant, Louisville 
Water Company (LW); Dr. Stephen Robertson, Executive Director, Kentucky Dental 
Association (KDA); Senator Chris McDaniel; Russ Meyer, Commissioner, Department of 
Parks, Tourism, Arts, and Heritage Cabinet; and Mark Kellen, Deputy Commissioner, 
Department of Parks, Tourism, Arts, and Heritage Cabinet.

LRC Staff:  Daniel Carter, Jesse Farler, Christina Gordley, Shannon Tubbs, and Peggy 
Sciantarelli.

Approval of Minutes - September 23, 2025, Meeting
A motion was made and seconded to approve the minutes of the September 23, 2025, 
meeting. The minutes were approved by voice vote without objection.

Discussion of 2025 RS SB 126 - AN ACT proposing to amend Sections 77 and 240 
of the Constitution of Kentucky relating to limiting the Governor's ability to grant 
pardons and commute sentences



Committee meeting materials may be accessed online at https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/CommitteeDocuments/33
2

Senator Chris McDaniel, primary sponsor, discussed 2025 RS SB 126, a proposed 
constitutional amendment to prohibit the Governor's ability to grant pardons or 
commute sentences beginning 60 days prior to a gubernatorial election and ending at 
that gubernatorial inauguration. SB 126 passed the Senate and was referred to a House 
committee for discussion only.

In response to Representative Tipton, Senator McDaniel said he received feedback from 
citizens about the legislation. Some would support establishing a commission or 
repealing the pardoning power.

Co-Chair Nemes and Senator Elkins expressed support for SB 126 and thanked Senator 
McDaniel for sponsoring it.

In response to Senator Elkins, Senator McDaniel said the legislation would affect a 
“termed out”, mid-term, or “in between two terms” governor in the same manner.

In response to Chair Hale, Senator McDaniel confirmed his intention that the 
constitutional amendment be on the 2026 ballot.

Co-Chair Johnson stated he is generally hesitant to support constitutional amendments 
but is voicing support for SB 126 because it makes governors, as elected officials, more 
accountable to the people.

In response to Representative Marzian’s inquiry about exceptions, Senator McDaniel 
said he would not anticipate it being a problem for a governor to exercise pardoning 
power during the prohibited time frame of the legislation if there was a legitimate 
reason.

Chair Hale commended the legislation as a bipartisan effort that he hopes will move 
forward.

Discussion of 2025 RS HB 16 - AN ACT relating to water fluoridation programs
Representative Mark Hart, primary sponsor, discussed 2025 RS HB 16 and 2026 RS BR 
161, relating to water fluoridation programs. Assisting him were Senator Greg Elkins; Dr. 
Jack Kall, Executive Chair, International Academy of Oral Medicine and Toxicology; and 
Cindy Batson, Registered Nurse, Kentucky for Fluoride Choice. 

Representative Hart stated the legislation removes an unfunded mandate to require 
water producers to add fluoride to water. The 2026 BR is identical to the 2025 bill, with 
one exception. In response to concerns of water districts about possible litigation, an 
immunity clause has been added.

Dr. Kall presented World Health Organization data; National Toxicology Program 
studies; decline in fluoridation effectiveness in England; and Canadian studies on the 
limitations of fluoridation effectiveness. Studies have reported adverse effects of fluoride 



Committee meeting materials may be accessed online at https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/CommitteeDocuments/33
3

exposure, and a September 2024 federal court ruled that the level of water fluoridation 
considered optimal in the United States poses unreasonable risk of reduced IQ in 
children.

Senator Elkins stated 2026 RS BR 161 would permit water districts, whether 
municipalities or private, to choose whether to include fluoride in water.

In response to concerns raised by Senator Rawlins, Ms. Batson confirmed that the 
fluoride added to water is not a pure pharmaceutical grade product. It is a byproduct of 
phosphate fertilizer manufacturing. Senator Rawlins voiced his support and added he 
would also support a total ban of fluoridation, as has been done in Florida and Utah.

Representative Roberts expressed concern about fluoridation costs imposed on local 
governments and stated he fully supports the legislation.

In response to questions from Representative Lockett, Dr. Kall stated there is research 
indicating fluoride in the water may contribute to dementia related illnesses. 
Representative Hart added the biggest hurdle in the bill’s passage has been educating 
people; the bill merely tries to eliminate an unfunded mandate. Senator Elkins said he 
intends to file a companion bill in the Senate during the 2026 Regular Session.

Representative Tipton suggested adding a requirement for public hearings to inform 
and provide input from the public. Representative Hart said he would not be opposed to 
that.

Representative Lehman commented on the relevance of publicly funded dental fluoride 
treatments in schools in the United States and other countries. Representative Hart 
responded that the question is more appropriate for the dental and the medical 
community.

Chair Hale announced information provided to the committee includes a letter from 
Alicia Whatley, Sr. Policy and Advocacy Director for the Kentucky Oral Health Coalition, 
on behalf of several Kentucky dental and health organizations, extolling the benefits of 
water fluoridation.

Dr. Stephen Robertson, Executive Director, KDA, and Vince Guenthner, Seniors Utilities 
Consultant, LW, testified in opposition to 2025 RS HB 16 and 2026 RS BR 161. Dr. 
Robertson stated he plans to provide the committee with a written response to today’s 
testimony.

Mr. Guenthner said LW attorneys will review the liability language included in the 2026 
bill draft. The new language may address some, but not all, of LW’s concerns. LW 
provides safe drinking water in Jefferson County, as well as Bullitt, Oldham, Shelby, 
Spencer, Hardin, and Nelson Counties. He believes the legislation will create confusion 



Committee meeting materials may be accessed online at https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/CommitteeDocuments/33
4

and make it difficult to maintain customer satisfaction. Different governing boards may 
have conflicting positions. The EPA and the National Department of Health Services are 
currently studying the impact and toxicology of fluoride. He suggested allowing that 
process to conclude before making a decision. LW believes it is good public policy to 
continue to add fluoride to the water.

Dr. Robertson stated Kentucky is the leader nationally in water fluoridation and has 
multiple memorandums of cooperation to help other states administer their programs. 
Kentucky data shows that every 10 percent reduction in public water fluoridation 
potentially would increase yearly Medicaid program expenses by $19 million.

Senator Tichenor stated Kentucky is ranked near the bottom nationally in overall dental 
health. She would be interested in talking with KDA about ways to promote better 
dental health. Dr. Robertson said dietary issues, the lack of quality home care, and oral 
health education have led to the low ranking. There is a preponderance of evidence that 
fluoride provides a positive effect.

Representative Bivens said he has received numerous emails from KDA promoting water 
fluoridation. He emphasized the legislation is about local control, not removal of 
fluoride.

In response to comments from Co-Chair Nemes, Mr. Guenthner said LW’s partnership 
with KDA does not involve a financial contribution or any cost to rate payers. The 
program is part of LW’s overall education efforts and is manned by employees and 
volunteers.

Representative Marzian stated the General Assembly has in the past enacted legislation 
impacting health care, in particular, relating to reproductive freedom.

In response to Representative Lehman and Representative Koch, Mr. Guenthner said his 
understanding of the treatment process is there is no effective way to remove fluoride 
from a water supply.

Kentucky Department of Parks - Overview
Russ Meyer, Commissioner, and Mark Kellen, Deputy Commissioner, Department of 
Parks, Tourism, Arts, and Heritage Cabinet, presented an overview of the department. 

Commissioner Meyer reviewed funding and status of authorized state park 
improvement projects. The Parks Facilities Management Division is currently managing 
284 other capital projects, totaling almost $70 million. Many are internal parks facilities 
management projects; others are being managed in conjunction with the Finance and 
Administration Cabinet.



Committee meeting materials may be accessed online at https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/CommitteeDocuments/33
5

In response to Chair Hale, Commissioner Meyer stated the projected completion date is 
“well into next year” for renovations at the Ft. Boonesborough campground.

In response to Representative Lockett, Commissioner Meyer stated the Paintsville Lake 
State Park campground is the only park facility that has turned a profit. It would be 
difficult to determine the effectiveness of privatization of state parks.

Representative Tipton asked whether there is an estimate of additional funding needed 
for maintenance and preservation of parks beyond what has been appropriated. 
Commissioner Meyer stated the department has been unable to make the funds initially 
requested go as far as planned. It would require an amount beyond the approximately 
$279 million previously appropriated. RFPs have been issued by the department for park 
improvements, and the department has not received much response from the private 
sector.

Senator Mills asked about the impact of inflation on parks projects, noting escalating 
costs have resulted in a $2 million shortage of funds to build a conference center at 
John James Audubon State Park. Commissioner Meyer stated the city of Henderson and 
county government have partnered on the Audubon project. The department provides 
the Appropriation and Revenue Committee quarterly reports on the progress and cost 
status of all current capital projects. Deputy Commissioner Kellen stated consultants 
review each project for design and other elements impacting cost.

Senator Elkins said he would appreciate receiving a full update on the Ft. 
Boonesborough project.

Adjournment
Chair Hale announced the next meeting would be held on Thursday, November 13, at 
3:00 PM. There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 12:48 PM.


